Supreme Court of Iowa

No. 22-0038

William L. Pitz and Lynn S. Pitz,
Plaintiffs-Appellants/Cross-Appellees,

vs.

United States Cellular Operating Company of Dubuque, an Iowa
Corporation

Defendant-Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

On Appeal from the Iowa District Court for Dubuque County,
Case No. LACV109349,
The Honorable Michael J. Shubatt

**Plaintiffs-Appellants' Application for Further Review of the Iowa
Court of Appeals Decision Filed November 2, 2022**

Chad D. Brakhahn, AT0010883
Joseph J. Porter, AT0014454
SIMMONS PERRINE MOYER BERGMAN PLC
115 3rd Street SE, Suite 1200
Cedar Rapids IA 52401-1266
Telephone: 319-366-7641
Facsimile: 319-366-1917
cbrakhahn@spmbllaw.com

I. Introduction

Iowa law has long held that a party can accept an offer only if its acceptance strictly conforms to the offeror's terms. *Foshier v. Fetzer*, 134 N.W. 556, 564 (Iowa 1912) (“if [acceptance] is not to the exact thing offered . . . no contract is made”) (citation omitted). Because an option is an offer, the same mirror-image rule applies. *Shell Oil*, 158 N.W.2d at 728.

The decision below effectively found otherwise. It permitted U.S.C.D. to accept the Pitzes' lease-renewal offer by sending notice one day, while delivering payment on some later day after the option period closed, even though the provisions of the option term plainly state that rent must be paid “at the exercise of the option[.]” App. 8, Art. 4.2. By unilaterally altering the option term's payment schedule, U.S.C.D. did not accept the “exact thing offered” by the Pitzes, and therefore did not properly exercise the option. *Foshier*, 134 N.W. at 564. The appellate court erred in holding differently.

The option rent's payment “at the exercise of the option” also presented a novel issue of Iowa law to the appellate court. Nationwide, option provisions that are “embedded” in leases, such as the Pitzes', are

treated “very different[ly]” than “free standing real estate option contract[s].” *Ingram v. Kasey's Assocs.*, 531 S.E.2d 287, 293 (S.C. 2000). For lease-embedded options, the presumption is that payment, if provided for, it must be made to exercise the option. *Id.* Free-standing options enjoy the reverse presumption. *Id.*

The decision below drew on principles undergirding free-standing option cases to resolve the Pitzes’ lease-embedded option issue. Using the appropriate standard, which the Pitzes request this Court adopt, the Pitzes should prevail.

II. Factual Background

Sometime before September 2018, William Pitz (“William”) was “stunned” by a letter his father handed him. App. 108, William Dep. 19:6. The utility lease on William’s farmland, which was set to expire in November 2018, was claiming to be renewed for thirty years without any negotiations by the tenant, U.S.C.D.. App. 108, William Dep. 19:9-11. William was aware of the lease’s original thirty-year term, which began in 1988, well before the time he and his wife purchased the farmland from his parents in 2002. App. 108, William Dep. 18:16; App. 21; App. 1, Art. 1.1. But he did not know of the option to renew, or actually see the lease, until the letter from his dad arrived. App. 108, William Dep.

14:18-21, 18:23-19:1. William took the letter to his attorney to find out if the option exercise was valid. App. 206, Tr. 60:9-10.

William's father was the lease's original lessor. On November 14, 1988, he granted U.S.C.D. a lease for about six acres of farmland to construct a telecommunications tower and related buildings and provide U.S.C.D. necessary access to those structures. App. 6, Art. 1.1; App. 7, Art. 2. The payment terms of the original lease were five hundred dollars when the leased was signed, and then nineteen thousand five hundred dollars on the following January 5. App. 8, Art. 4.1(a)-(b). This twenty-thousand-dollar total was U.S.C.D.'s rent payment for the first thirty years.

The lease gave U.S.C.D. an option to renew for a second thirty years:

Option to Renew. Lessee shall have the option to renew this Lease Agreement for one (1) additional term of thirty (30) years, at the rental rate set forth in Article Four and upon all the other terms and conditions hereof. Lessee may exercise such option by giving written notice to Lessor at least sixty (60) days before the expiration of the initial term of this Lease Agreement.

App. 7, Art. 3.2. November 13, 2018 was the lease's original expiration date. *See* App. 7, Art. 3.1. Sixty days before that was September 14, 2018.

The rental rate for the option term, established in article four, states in relevant part:

Option Term Rent. Lessee shall pay to Lessor as full consideration for use of the Leased Premises during the option term, payable in a lump sum in advance at the exercise of the option, the amount of Twenty Thousand Dollars (\$20,000.00), adjusted [for inflation.]

App. 8, Art. 4.2. Reading these two provisions together, if U.S.C.D. exercised its renewal option, the resulting contract would have a payment schedule term (lump-sum at the time U.S.C.D. accepted the offer to renew) that differed from the rest of the lease, but every other term and condition would be the same as the first lease.

U.S.C.D. claimed to exercise the renewal option in the letter William's father gave to William, dated September 1, 2017, with the following language:

This letter shall serve as notice that Dubuque Telephone, L.P. is exercising its option to renew the Lease Agreement dated November 14th, 1988, for the first of one renewal terms (Option 1) of thirty years. The new term will commence on November 14th, 2018 and expire on November 13, 2048.

App. 31. No payment was enclosed in this letter.

In a second letter delivered on the last day to exercise the option, September 14, 2018, App. 38, U.S.C.D. wrote:

Pursuant to our phone conversation on September 06, 2018⁵ notifying us that you have purchased the property from your parents Robert & Dorothy Pitz, please note that we are still in need of the following documents to reflect this change of ownership and update the rent payee in our system.

Recorded copy of deed
W-9 Form (Attached)
Direct Deposit form (Attached)
Contact information of New Owners

Dubuque Cellular Telephone, L.P. has renewed the Lease agreement dated November 14, 1988 as per section 3.2 of the Lease. Copy of Acknowledged Letter dated September 01, 2017 is attached. Once we have these documents, we will be able to disburse the option renewal payment to you. This letter is being sent to the last address on record.

App. 36. This letter also did not enclose payment for the renewed lease term.

In fact, it was not until U.S.C.D. sent a letter over a month later, dated October 29, 2018, that U.S.C.D. finally tendered payment for the option term—just sixteen, rather than sixty, days before the term was to begin. App. 40. The Pitzes returned the check and explained that since U.S.C.D. did not provide payment within the sixty-day window, the option was not validly exercised. App. 42-45.

⁵ The topics of the phone call are unknown. App. 110, William Dep. 28:16-18. Additionally, the lease agreement apparently does not require notice of the lessor's change of ownership. *See* App. 13, Art. 19.

The Pitzes then filed a declaratory judgment action in June of 2019 to protect their rights. After a bench trial on August 6, 2021, the district court ruled that U.S.C.D. effectuated its option. U.S.C.D. submitted post-trial motions, which were denied, and both parties appealed. The court of appeals affirmed the district court's ruling on all issues on November 2, 2022.

III. U.S.C.D. Did Not Exercise the Renewal Option Because the Terms of Its Acceptance Deviated from the Pitzes' Offer

To exercise its option, U.S.C.D. was required to accept the terms of Pitzes' offer to extend the lease. These terms were laid out in the lease agreement. The Pitzes offered to extend the lease if U.S.C.D. paid the rent in a lump sum at the time the option was exercised, at least sixty days before the new lease started (September 14, 2018). App. 7-8, Art. 3.2, 4.2. U.S.C.D. did not accept these terms, and instead proposed a payment term of less than sixty days prior to the renewed lease's commencement date. It therefore did not validly accept the option.

“An option is merely an offer that cannot be revoked until a certain date.” *SDG*, 648 N.W.2d at 585. The option-holder possess a “power of acceptance,” *id.*, which it uses in exercising the offer to form a contract:

The acceptance of the option . . . must be unqualified and unequivocal, must be communicated to the party giving the option in no uncertain manner, and be such that after it is exercised it becomes binding upon the party exercising it. That is to say, it must assume the form of a contract proper as distinguished from a mere option or offer.

Hunter Inv., Inc. v. Divine Eng'g, Inc., 83 N.W.2d 921, 926 (Iowa 1957).

“In a contract by offer and acceptance, ‘the acceptance must conform strictly to the offer in all its conditions, without any deviation or condition whatever.’” *Rick*, 706 N.W.2d at 724 (quoting *Shell Oil*, 158 N.W.2d at 728). Even if party appears to express acceptance, but in reality modifies a term of the offer, the common law will not bless the contract: “Though there is an acceptance, if it is not to the exact thing offered, or if it is accompanied by any conditions or reservations however slight, in time or otherwise, no contract is made.” *Foshier*, 134 N.W. at 564.

For instance, in *Rick*, a defendant offered to confess judgment to the plaintiffs, a husband and wife, for personal injuries and loss of consortium. *Rick*, 106 N.W.2d at 719-20. The husband rejected the offer for his personal injury claim, while wife the accepted it for her loss of consortium claim. *Id.* at 720. On review, the appellate court found that the offer was not divisible between the spouses, and that because the wife “attempted to accept the offer to confess judgment in a way that did not

conform to the offer in all of its conditions[,]” she “rejected” it. *Id.* at 724.

The Iowa Supreme Court has applied this mirror-image to uphold an option contract, *see Shell Oil*, 158 N.W.2d at 728, but apparently has not yet held that an optionee fails to exercise its option by straying from the optionor’s terms. Nonetheless, such a holding is a familiar occurrence in other courts.⁶ For lessees attempting to exercise an option to renew a lease, these holdings reflect the rule that:

⁶ *E.g.*, *Fries v. Fries*, 470 N.W.2d 232, 234 (N.D. 1991) (option-holders did not exercise option by attempting to purchase less than all of the real estate subject to option); *Sealy (Pines Road) v. Physicians & Surgeons Hosp., Inc.*, 480 So. 2d 832 (La. Ct. App. 2d Cir. 1985), *writ denied*, 483 So. 2d 1024 (La. 1986) (option-holder’s notice to renew lease for three years, rather than the five year term in the option clause, was a new offer and not an exercise of option to renew); *Blakeslee v. Davoudi*, 633 P.2d 857, 860 (Or. Ct. App. 1981) (plaintiffs-lessees did not exercise their renewal option because their “proposals” to “alter the lease terms, apart from the rental rate, amounted to counteroffers not accepted by defendants”); *Harvard v. Anderson*, 524 P.2d 880, 883 (Wyo. 1974) (option to purchase real estate was not effectuated where option-holder accepted a modified version of the option); *Dep’t of Pub. Works & Bldgs. v. Halls*, 220 N.E.2d 167, 169 (Ill. 1966) (option-holder failed to exercise real estate purchase option by including title quality terms in acceptance); *Hayward Lumber & Inv. Co. v. Constr. Prod. Corp.*, 255 P.2d 473, 476 (Cal. Ct. App. 1953) (lessee ineffectually exercised option to renew lease for two years where he sent notice of renewal for one year); *see Texas State Optical, Inc. v. Wiggins*, 882 S.W.2d 8, 11 (Tex. App. 1994) (“With regard to an option, generally a purported acceptance containing a new demand, proposal, condition, or modification of the terms of the offer is not an acceptance, but a rejection.”).

[T]he lessee usually cannot exercise an option different in scope from the precise option conferred in the lease. The lessee cannot require the lessor to do more than is called for by the stipulation of the lease as a condition of acceptance, and if the lessee does so, or accepts on materially different terms, it amounts in effect to a rejection of the offer or a counteroffer requiring acceptance by the lessor before any contract of sale comes into being.

52 *C.J.S. Landlord & Tenant* § 124 (November 2022 Update) (footnotes omitted).

Applying this rule, U.S.C.D. did not validly exercise the renewal option because its purported acceptance materially changed the payment terms of the renewed lease. The option agreement—the Pitzes’ offer—required U.S.C.D. to pay rent for the option term “in a lump sum” “at the exercise of the option,” App. 8, Art. 4.2, which had to be at least sixty days before the lease expired on November 13, 2018, App. 7, Art. 3.2. However, neither of U.S.C.D.’s letters from that timeframe tendered the option term rent. App. 31-35, 34-39. Rather, U.S.C.D. attempted to “accept” the Pitzes’ option by giving notice of exercising it and, fatally, by delaying tendering payment until about two weeks before the option term was to begin.⁷ App. 40-41.

⁷ The mailed check demonstrates U.S.C.D. easily could have accepted the renewal by sending notice concomitantly with payment. App. 40-41.

In doing so, U.S.C.D. did not properly exercise the renewal option because it did not “embod[y] the same terms as contained in [the] offer.” *O'Brien v. Fitzhugh*, 215 N.W. 944, 946 (Iowa 1927) (“Unless it may be said that the alleged acceptance by the appellee of the offer of appellant embodied the same terms as contained in his offer, there is no acceptance, but a rejection of the offer.”); *see Foshier*, 134 N.W. at 564 (“Though there is an acceptance, if it is not to the exact thing offered, or if it is accompanied by any conditions or reservations however slight, in time or otherwise, no contract is made.”).

On this front, the court of appeals’ ruling that the advance-payment term is an “obligation of performance once the option to renew was exercised” runs together the *mode* in which an option is accepted with the *terms* on which an option is accepted. Appellate Decision 7; *see Figge v. Clark*, 174 N.W.2d 432, 435-36 (Iowa 1970) (discussing the “mode of acceptance” of an option contract). Even if U.S.C.D. used the proper mode of exercising the option contract (written notice), it could not have accepted the option on the Pitzes’ terms because it did not tender payment at the time the option was exercised, nor at a minimum of sixty days prior to the option term. Thus, the court of appeals erred in holding U.S.C.D. renewed the lease.

IV. U.S.C.D. Had to Pay Rent to Exercise the Renewal Option

The Pitzes' lease agreement with U.S.C.D. provides that paying rent in advance is a condition precedent to exercising the option to renew, not merely a term of performance. *See Breen v. Mayne*, 118 N.W. 441, 443 (Iowa 1908) (distinguishing between payment as a condition precedent and condition subsequent). Although the lease agreement's language is the touchstone, *Lyon v. Willie*, 288 N.W.2d 884, 888 (Iowa 1980), the distinction between option agreements that provide for payment after the option is exercised and those that require payment at the time of exercise, which are typically found in leases, is critical.

The following American Law Report expounds the "general rule" for discerning an option contract's mode of exercise:

[W]here an option contract does not provide for payment of the purchase price at the time of, or coincident with, an optionee's exercise or attempted exercise of the option, or where such contract is silent as to the time of payment, the courts have usually adhered to the view, sometimes referred to as the general rule, that in such circumstances payment is not a necessary requisite to exercise but is instead simply one of the acts required of the optionee in performance of his part of the bilateral contract of purchase and sale which was formed when he communicated to the optionor his election or intention to exercise the option and thereby accepted the optionee's offer.

71 A.L.R.3d 1201. The court of appeals decision employed something akin to the general rule in holding that payment was not a condition

precedent since the renewal option section and the option rent section were not joined with “conjunctive language.” Appellate Decision 7.

But this general rule “is not applicable to every circumstance” and gives way to options “embedded” in leases, as the South Carolina Supreme Court explained:

To determine whether actual payment is required to exercise an option, it is important to look at both the specific language used in the option contract and also the context in which it was made. The Court of Appeals correctly cited the general rule for the exercise of an option contract. However, this rule is not applicable to every circumstance.

For example, *an option provision embedded in a lease is very different than a free standing real estate option contract:*

In the absence of a provision in the option agreement specifying the time or method of payment, the question of whether the purchase price or a part thereof must be paid or tendered in order to exercise the option has generally been found to depend on whether the terms of the option require the payment of a fixed sum at the expiration of a certain period, *such as the term of a lease, in which case payment is required in order to exercise the option.*

Ingram, 531 S.E.2d at 293 (first italics added) (quoting 77 Am.Jur.2d Vendor and Purchaser § 53 (1997)).

In *Ingram*, the lessee had the right “to purchase the premises at any time during the term [t]hereof.” *Id.* The lessee attempted to trigger the option with only an express notice that it was “exercising [its] option and

right to purchase the above-referenced premises pursuant to the option contained in the” lease. *Id.* at 290. But the court found the timely notice ineffectual. *Id.* at 293. It reasoned “the nature of a lease is different than that of a contract to sell,” in that a lessor bears the opportunity costs of lost rent and potential lessees if payment is not timely made. *Id.* So payment, not mere notice, was needed to exercise the option. *Id.*

Ingram is not alone in putting lease-embedded options in a class by themselves. The Supreme Court of Wyoming reached a similar holding in *Shellart v. Axford*. 485 P.2d 1031 (Wyo. 1971). There, the lessee’s lease agreement gave it an option to purchase the property for twelve thousand dollars during the lease term that could be exercised “by giving the LESSORS at least 30 days notice in writing of LESSEE’S intention to so exercise said option.” *Id.* at 1032. To determine how to properly exercise the option, however, the court noted:

it goes without saying an essential step in the exercise of a purchase option is payment of the purchase price. Whether expressed in so many words or not, it is to be impliedly understood that an option such as the one considered cannot be exercised without the requisite notice and without payment of the purchase price.

Id. at 1033. And because the lessee did not pay the purchase price, it did not exercise the option. *Id.*

Other courts too have adopted this line of reasoning. *Hofmann v. Sullivan*, 599 P.2d 505, 508 (Utah 1979) (“In general, such a provision [granting the lessee an option to purchase the premises at the expiration of the lease] calls for a payment of cash at the time of the exercise of the option; hence, as a matter of law, there was no ambiguity as to how and when payments would be made.”); *Peebler v. Seawell*, 265 P.2d 109, 112 (Cal. Ct. App. 1954) (down payment was necessary to exercise option with notice provision); see *Burns v. Reves*, 457 S.E.2d 178 (Ga. Ct. App. 1995).

The renewal option in the Pitzes’ lease agreement, which requires payment “at the time” the option is exercised, fits flush with these cases finding that payment is a condition precedent to exercising an option. The option is embedded in a lease, it must be accepted before the lease expires, and although it is an option to renew and not to purchase, the Pitzes are subject to similar opportunity costs as the *Ingram* lessor.

Further, the lease “expressly requires” that option payment “accompany the optionee's election to exercise the option,” making payment a condition precedent. 71 A.L.R.3d 1201 (“[W]here an option contract expressly . . . requires that payment of the purchase price . . . accompany the optionee's election to exercise the option, the making or”

tender of such payment is essential, or a condition precedent, to the formation of a contract") (emphasis added). And the rule that payment is a mere obligation of performance does not apply. *See* 49 Am. Jur. 2d *Landlord and Tenant* § 336 ("Where an option contract does not provide for payment of the purchase price at the time of an optionee's exercise . . . the general rule is that payment is not a necessary requisite to exercise.") (emphasis added).

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