IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

Supreme Court No. 22-0038

District Court No. 01311 LACV109349

WILLIAM L. PITZ and LYNN S. PITZ,

Appellants/Cross-Appellees,

vs.

**UNITED STATES CELLULAR OPERATING COMPANY OF
DUBUQUE, an Iowa Corporation,**

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEALS NOVEMBER 2,
2022

APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT'S RESISTANCE TO APPLICATION
FOR FURTHER REVIEW

Bret A. Dublinske
Brandon R. Underwood
FREDRIKSON & BYRON, P.A.
111 East Grand Avenue, Suite 301
Des Moines, IA 50309
Telephone: 515.242.8900
Facsimile: 515.242.8950
Email: bdublinske@fredlaw.com
bunderwood@fredlaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE/CROSS-
APPELLANT

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

ARGUMENT

The Court should deny the Application for Further Review because the Pitzes have not demonstrated any enumerated or unenumerated grounds that merit further review. The Pitzes simply disagree with the Court of Appeals' resolution of a simple dispute over the correct interpretation of a particular lease, a grievance hardly deserving of yet another layer of appellate review. If this case deserves further review, then so do all the other generic disputes over the meaning and effect of contract language decided by the Court of Appeals.

I. The Pitzes Failed to Demonstrate Any Enumerated or Unenumerated Grounds that Merit Further Review.

The Pitzes cited three of the enumerated grounds this Court considers when evaluating an application for further review, but their Application fails to demonstrate that any of these grounds actually exist. (Appl. 4–5). And because the Pitzes cited no other grounds—enumerated or unenumerated—the Court should deny the Application for Further Review.

Further review “is a matter of judicial discretion,” and an application for further review “will not be granted in normal circumstances.” Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103(1)(b). Although they do not dictate or limit the Court’s discretion, the Court generally considers whether any the following grounds exist when evaluating an application for further review:

- (1) The court of appeals has entered a decision in conflict with a decision of this court or the court of appeals on an important matter;
- (2) The court of appeals has decided a substantial question of constitutional law or an important question of law that has not been, but should be, settled by the supreme court;
- (3) The court of appeals has decided a case where there is an important question of changing legal principles;
- (4) The case presents an issue of broad public importance that the supreme court should ultimately determine.

Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103(1)(b)(1)–(4).

The Pitzes’ Application cited the first, second, and ostensibly the fourth circumstances as grounds for further review. None of these grounds are supported by the record in this case.

A. The Decision of the Court of Appeals is Not in Conflict with Another Court of Appeals Decision or a Decision of the Supreme Court, Let Alone a Decision on an Important Matter.

Despite citing Rule 6.1103(1)(b)(1), the Pitzes demonstrated no real conflict between the Court of Appeals’ decision in this case and another

decision of the Court of Appeals or this Court. In fact, rather than identify a particular conflicting decision, the Pitzes say the Court of Appeals' decision in this case conflicts with the general principle that, like the acceptance of an offer, the exercise of an option must strictly comply with all applicable conditions without variation. This argument misunderstands the Court of Appeals' decision. When properly understood, there is no conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and the general principles applicable to exercising an option provision.

The Pitzes' conflict argument misunderstands the Court of Appeals' decision. The Court of Appeals did not neglect the lease's rent payment as a precondition to U.S. Cellular exercising its option to renew the lease, as the Pitzes summarily contend. The Court of Appeals instead expressly recognized that "[a]ny conditions precedent to the option provision must be fulfilled" and concluded that the rent payment was not a precondition to U.S. Cellular exercising its option to renew the lease. *Pitz*, No. 22-0038, at 5–7 (quoting *SDG Macerich Props., L.P. v. Stanek Inc.*, 648 N.W.2d 581, 586 (Iowa 2002)). So the Pitzes' conflict argument is built on an incorrect presumption. They improperly presume—without demonstrating—that the rent payment was a precondition to exercising the option and summarily conclude the Court of Appeals' decision neglected this condition, putting it in

conflict with all other decisions articulating the general principle that all the conditions of exercising an option must be fulfilled. This classically fallacious argument does not present a conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision in this case and a decision from this Court. *See* Andrew Jay McClurg, *Logical Fallacies and the Supreme Court: A Critical Examination of Justice Rehnquist's Decisions in Criminal Procedure Cases*, 59 U. Colo. L. Rev. 741, 784 (1988) (“When a premise directly related to the point in issue is assumed, without proof, for purposes of establishing the conclusion, the fallacy of begging the question has occurred.”). Like every other unsuccessful appellant, the Pitzes simply disagree with the Court of Appeals' decision.

In fact, the Court of Appeals' decision is entirely consistent with this Court's precedents distinguishing between performance obligations and conditions precedent to exercising an option. As the Court of Appeals pointed out, payment is not always a condition precedent to the exercise of an option. *Pitz*, No. 22-0038, at 7–8; *see also* Appellee Br. 25–28. Under Iowa law, some contracts may require payment as a precondition to exercising an option to renew the contract while others may simply make payment a performance obligation under the renewed contract. *See Matter of Est. of Clausen*, 482 N.W.2d 381, 384 (Iowa 1992) (concluding payment of the purchase price for land was not a precondition to exercising the option to purchase the land);

Lyon v. Willie, 288 N.W.2d 884, 888 (Iowa 1980) (explaining payment is a precondition to exercising an option only when a lease clearly and expressly requires it); *Breen v. Mayne*, 118 N.W. 441, 443 (Iowa 1908) (explaining it is important “to distinguish that which pertains to the performance of a contract from that which pertains to its making”).

Here, Article 3.2 of the lease, titled “Option to Renew,” says U.S. Cellular “may exercise” its option to renew the lease by “giving written notice” to the Pitzes “60 days before” the initial term expired. (App. 7, art. 3.2). An entirely separate Article on another page of the lease, titled “Option Term Rent,” calls for a lump-sum payment “at the exercise of the option.” (App. 8, art. 4.2). The Court of Appeals correctly distinguished between the express preconditions to exercising the lease renewal option in Article 3.2 and the separate payment terms in Article 4.2 and concluded that Article 4.2’s payment terms were separate performance obligations, not preconditions to exercising the renewal option. *Pitz*, No. 22-0038, at 7–8. This is entirely consistent with this Court’s decisions in *Matter of Estate of Claussen*, *Lyon*, and *Breen*. 482 N.W.2d 381; 288 N.W.2d 884; 118 N.W. 441. It is also consistent with the law in several other jurisdictions. *See Matrix Props. Corp. v. TAG Invs.*, 609 N.W.2d 737, 742–43 (N.D. 2000); *Acme Inv., Inc. v. Sw. Tracor, Inc.*, 105 F.3d 412, 415 (8th Cir. 1997)

(applying Nebraska law); *Pet. of Hilltop Dev.*, 342 N.W.2d 344, 346 (Minn. 1984); *Killam v. Tenney*, 366 P.2d 739, 747–48 (Or. 1961); *Ford v. Lord*, 586 P.2d 270, 274 (Idaho 1978); *Foard v. Snider*, 109 A.2d 101, 106 (Md. 1954).

The Pitzes have therefore failed to demonstrate a Rule 6.1103(1)(b)(1) conflict. All they’ve shown is that they disagree with the Court of Appeals’ interpretation and construction of the lease. That is not grounds for further review.

B. The Court of Appeals Did Not Decide an Important Question of Law that has Not Been, But Should Be, Settled by the Supreme Court.

The Court of Appeals decided this case based on “the plain language of [the] particular lease” at issue. *Pitz*, No. 22-0038, at 7. It did not decide an important question of law that has not been, but should be, settled by this Court. *See* 6.1103(1)(b)(2).

Two elements make up the grounds described in Rule 6.1103(1)(b)(2): (1) the Court of Appeals decided an important question of law, and (2) the Supreme Court has not, but should, finally settle it. *Id.* To demonstrate these grounds then, an applicant for further review must first show that the Court of Appeals decided a particular question of law. *See id.* The applicant cannot pick a question that was never decided by the Court of Appeals and ask the Supreme Court to decide it in the first instance. *See id.* It is, after all, an

application for *further* review.

The Pitzes’ Application identifies a question of law that the Court of Appeals did not decide, or even address. Their Application asks this Court to determine “whether payment is a condition precedent to exercising a lease-embedded option when payment must occur at the same time the option is effectuated.” (Appl. 5). The Court of Appeals did not even address this question, let alone decide it, because the Pitzes never raised it in their appellate brief. *See Pitz*, No. 22-0038; *see also infra* Section II. (arguing the Pitzes failed to preserve this argument). Instead, the Court of Appeals expressly stated it was resolving this case based on “the plain language of this particular lease.” *Id.* at 7. The Court of Appeals never considered whether Iowa courts should follow the Pitzes’ proposed new rule. *See Pitz*, No. 22-0038. The question of its propriety is therefore not grounds for further review under Rule 6.1103(1)(b)(2), because the Pitzes never presented it to the Court of Appeals and the Court of Appeals never decided it.

C. This Case Does Not Present an Issue of Broad Public Importance that the Supreme Court Should Ultimately Determine.

Without citing Rule 6.1103(1)(b)(4)—or for that matter anything else—the Pitzes say “[l]ease renewals are a matter of great importance to Iowa,” ostensibly arguing this is grounds for further review under Rule

6.1103(1)(b)(4). It isn't.

Just because this case involves the renewal of a lease does not mean it presents an issue of broad public importance that this Court should determine. Leases are important to the public like other contracts and legal relations are important to the public. But not every Court of Appeals decision involving a dispute over the meaning of a lease or other contract deserves further review. So by asserting that leases, in the abstract, are important to the public, the Pitzes have not demonstrated grounds for further review under Rule 6.1103(1)(b)(4). In fact, this assertion just underscores that this case lacks the characteristics of a case deserving further review by this Court.

More to the point, the Court of Appeals decided this case based on “the plain language of [the] particular lease” at issue. *Pitz*, No. 22-0038, at 7. The decision and the issues involved were certainly important to the parties, but it hardly presented any issues of importance to the public at large. And by generically asserting that lease renewals, in the abstract, are important to the public, the Pitzes have done nothing to show that the particular issue decided by the Court of Appeals—whether the lease required payment of the rent as a condition to exercising the option to renew the lease—is an issue of broad public importance. The Pitzes’ assertions that this issue is one of broad public importance are speculation and nothing more.

II. The Pitzes Failed to Preserve Their Argument that the Supreme Court Should Adopt a New Rule that Payment is a Condition Precedent to Exercising an Option to Renew a Lease When the Lease Calls for Payment at the Time of Renewal.

As discussed above, the Court of Appeals never considered, let alone determined, the propriety of the new rule that the Pitzes now ask this Court to consider on further review. That’s because the Pitzes never presented it to the Court of Appeals and thus failed to preserve it as grounds for further review.

This Court may consider only “the issues properly preserved and raised in the original briefs.” *Bokhoven v. Klinker*, 474 N.W.2d 553, 557 (Iowa 1991). An applicant cannot argue an issue for the first time in its application for further review. *See id.*; *see also State v. Iowa Dist. Ct. for Warren Cnty.*, 828 N.W.2d 607, 616 n.6 (Iowa 2013) (declining to consider one of the applicant’s arguments because it never raised the argument before the trial court or in its appellate brief). That well-settled rule dooms the Pitzes’ challenge.

A review of the Pitzes’ appellate briefing shows the Pitzes’ did not preserve their argument that the Court should adopt a new rule that payment is a condition precedent to exercising an option to renew a lease when the lease calls for payment at the time of renewal. *See* Appellants/Cross-Appellees Br. 22–44; Appellants/Cross-Appellees Reply Br. 12–37; *Pitz*, No. 22-0038. The Pitzes’ briefs argued that the language in the lease *itself*

required payment as a precondition to exercising the option to renew, not that the application of their new proposed rule required payment as a precondition to exercising the option. *See* Appellants/Cross-Appellees Br. 22–34; Appellants/Cross-Appellees Reply Br. 12–21. These briefs never even mention a new rule of law, let alone argued for the application of one. Instead, the Pitzes improperly saved that argument for their Application. It’s too late.

If that were not enough, the Court of Appeals’ opinion confirms the Pitzes never argued for the application of their proposed new rule. The Court of Appeals decided this case based on the plain language of the lease and never mentioned the Pitzes’ proposed new rule, or any other new rule. *Pitz*, No. 22-0038, 5–8. It is therefore apparent from both the Pitzes’ appellate briefs and the Court of Appeals’ opinion that the Pitzes failed to preserve their argument that this Court should grant further review in order to consider and adopt the Pitzes’ proposed new rule of law. The Court should not consider it here.

III. Further Review is Inappropriate Because Even if the Court of Appeals’ Interpretation of the Lease Were Incorrect, the Court Would Have to Remand this Case to the District Court to Determine Whether U.S. Cellular’s Failure to Tender Payment Should be Excused Because Tender Have Been Futile.

Both the District Court and the Court of Appeals properly rejected the Pitzes’ misguided reading of the lease and agreed with U.S. Cellular that the rent payment was not a precondition to exercising U.S. Cellular’s option to

renew the lease. (App. 170; App. 172); *Pitz*, No. 22-0038. As a result, neither addressed U.S. Cellular’s alternative argument that its failure to make the rent payment when it exercised its option should be excused because any such payment would have been futile. So even if this Court were to grant further review, and even if the Court decided to reverse the Court of Appeals and District Court, this case would not end there. The Court would need to remand the case to the District Court to determine whether U.S. Cellular’s failure to tender payment was futile.

This Court has repeatedly excused payment tenders in option cases when—as here—tender would have been futile. *See Lange v. Lange*, 520 N.W.2d 113, 118 (Iowa 1994) (“When a tender would be of no avail, . . . it may be excused.”); *Lyon*, 288 N.W.2d at 891 (holding that the option holder “was excused from making a valid tender by the June 25 deadline”); *Figge v. Clark*, 174 N.W.2d 432, 437 (Iowa 1970) (“[R]easonable efforts to make that tender proved futile”); *Steele v. Northup*, 143 N.W.2d 302, 306 (Iowa 1966) (excusing failed tender). Specifically, in *Lange*, the plaintiffs knew the option holder wanted to purchase company stock “far in advance of the expiration of the option.” 520 N.W.2d at 118. Still, the plaintiffs refused the stock sale because they didn’t think it was a “good deal.” *Id.* This Court decided to excuse the option holder’s failure to tender payment. *Id.*

Here, U.S. Cellular notified the Pitzes it was exercising its option over a year before the lease's initial term expired. (App. 31). In fact, U.S. Cellular was ready and willing to make the rent payment. (App. 228, Tr. 103:14–18). U.S. Cellular sent the Pitzes a check for the rent before the lease expired in November 2018. (App. 40). Despite knowing that U.S. Cellular wanted to exercise the option, the Pitzes refused the check, hoping to renegotiate a more lucrative payment. (App. 42; App. 113, Pitz Dep. 38:22–25).

Like the plaintiffs in *Lange*, the Pitzes simply didn't like the option terms and wanted to find a way out. This is plainly apparent from William's deposition testimony. He testified that "we would still be here" in a lawsuit to invalidate the option even if U.S. Cellular had sent the rent payment in time to exercise its option to renew the lease. (App. 121, Pitz Dep. 70:1–3). William thought the rent—which was originally agreed to by his parents—was "very unfair," not "very favorable," "way undervalued," and "insulting." (App. 109, Pitz Dep. 22:16–18, 22:19–25; App. 113, Pitz Dep. 38:12–17; App. 114, Pitz Dep. 44:17–19; App. 121, Pitz Dep. 70:1–3; App. 200, Tr. 46:5–14).

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